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About Daun‘taun/Kingston

Kingston (referred to in the Norfk language as Taun or
Daun'taun; also written as Daun a Taun) is Norfolk
Island’s capital, a key living heritage site, ad ministrative
centre and tourism attraction.

Also known as KAVHA (Kingston and Arthur's Vale
Historic Area), the site is protected by UNESCO as part
of the World Heritage-Listed Australian Convict Sites
property. Although its World Heritage status was
primarily granted to recognise remnants of the British
settlements (1788-1814, 1825-55),' KAVHA is also
significant for its earlier Polynesian settlement (c.1150-
1450) and its central role in the everyday lives of people
of the Pitcairn Settlement since 1856.

Among other things, Taun contains a working port
(Kingston pier), a place of worship (All Saints), sites of
recreation (the golf course and clubhouse, the sports
grounds, Emily Bay and Slaughter Bay), service club
facilities (Lions Club), private residences, and an active
cemetery. The area provides pasturage for cattle,

houses four museums and a research centre, and is '
the workplace for local council and Australian
Government employees.




Kingston is the site for Bounty Day, when Pitcairn
Settler descendants pay tribute to the arrival of the

" Pitcairners on Norfolk Island, and the location of the
cenotaph, where Norfolk Islanders remember those
who died in times of war. Recently, it has also become
the venue for Heiva, a day on which Pitcairn Settler

descendants celebrate and honour their Polynesian
ancestry.

Kingston has also long been a locus for political activity
on the island. It is the site of Government House (the
current Administrator’s residence) and the Old Military
Barracks, which from 1979-2015 housed the Norfolk
Island Legislative Assembly and since 2016 is the site of
a tent embassy. The tent embassy is a daily reminder
of the Australian Government'’s implementation of the
Norfolk Island Legislation Amendment Bill 2015 which
removed self-government on the island. The ongoing
tensions between Norfolk Island and Australia
resulting from those governance changes are
captured in Australia’s Assault on Norfolk Island, a

~ series of books by Chris Nobbs.?

SOUR FUTUREL.S
OUR CHOICE




Kingston contested: on ownership, rights and : b
custodianship

The inspiration for this zine came from conversations

with Norfolk Island residents and community social

media posts which pointed to a felt loss of

custodianship of Kingston and decision-making

around its management, particularly following the

change in the island’s governance arrangements since
2015.

During the production of the zine, tensions
“heightened around the ‘rights’ to Kingston and its
buildings. During a radio interview in November 2021,
the island’s Administrator reported that the Norfolk
Island Council of Elders and the Norfolk Island People
for Democracy (NIPD) changed the locks on buildings
in the Old Military Barracks. The Administrator
subsequently reminded the community that the
Australian Government is responsible for the
maintenance and upkeep of KAVHA and that, as
Administrator, he is authorised to deal with laws as
they apply to the Crown Lands Act.? Public notices
produced by the Council of Elders and NIPD, ‘as
representative bodies for Pitcairn Descendants, for
Norfk Peoples and in their own respective rights’, were
then placed on the buildings where the locks had
been changed:

PUBLIC NOTICE

Take Notice

This buliding sits in the Kingston Area.

It ks one of the collection of bulidings in the Kingston Ares
subject to rights of Pitcaim Descendants (both individuat
and colective) to customary occupation and usage of and
connection with the Kingston Ares which cannot be
extinguished or materially diminished by any other
occupation o usage, or any other 3ct or emission.

AN other public of priva ion or usage
occupation or usage authorived by the Australlan
Cammonwealth Government or other public authority) of
these bulldings ot any time cocurs subject to these rights
which are tully resecved and extant,

Council of Exlers Norfolk [stand People for Democracy

(A representative bodies fo1 Piteairn Descendants, for Norfh
Pecples and in their own tespective rights.)




B THiis buliding.. isorie of the collscticiiof
buildings in the Kingston Area subject to rights
of Pitcairn Descendants (both individual and
collective) to customary occupation and usage of
and connection with the Kingston Area which
cannot be extinguished or materially diminished
by any other occupation or usage, or any other
act or omission.* ”

A media release prepared by the Council of Elders and
NIPD in early December further noted that:

\\In an effort to avoid any doubt, CoE and NIPD
provided the Commonwealth with written notice
that any further action by them at OMB [Old
Military Barracks] {or in Kingston) that is
disrespectful of our rights; or is otherwise than in
accordance with an agreed outcome or shared
understanding, will be unauthorised by law,
whether under the Crown Lands Act 1996 (N]) or
otherwise. ® /

Earlier in November, the rights to KAVHA were
discussed at an event held to launch the latest book by
Chris Nobbs,® which includes commentary on the
Australian Government’s ‘presumptions as to
ownership of properties related to KAVHA'7 Nobbs
emphasises the importance of community ‘ownership’
of the site if it is to remain a vibrant heritage place. He
notes that he is referring here not to ‘formal
ownership’ or ‘total ownership’ but to ‘psychological
ownership’, including the community feeling ‘that they
have responsibility for it; that they are stewards of it’.®

The feeling that Kingston is no longer auwas

Daun’taun, despite the area being ‘at the centre of biion |
community life’,?> emerges in many of the contributions .. ¥
to this zine. :
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About this zine: introducing ‘sense of place’
“Highlighted across the pages of this zine are Norfolk

Islanders’ strong affective engagements with, and the
cultural significance of, Kingston - the joy and love
they feel for this special place, its importance as a site
of living heritage, its role in everyday life in the present
as much as in the past. Peter Christian-Bailey refers to
it as ‘the cradle of Norfolk’ (see page 50). As such, thg
zine captures the sense of place of Kingston as it is
understood and felt by the zine’s contributors.

Sense of place is a term used in humanities and social
sciences scholarship to indicate the various qualities
that make a place distinctive. Sense of place can
include the commmunity’s ‘reference points’ -
embedded in individual, familial and collective
memories of Kingston — which orient present day
experiences of Taun and community members’
thoughts about the site’'s management and
interpretation.' It is important to note that there is not
a singular sense of place; understandings of and
attachments to place are varied and made up of many
different elements.

Xiv
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~ Heritage management and conservation in the West
qj has typically taken a ‘pragmatic and rationalised™
approach that prioritises materiality — the tangible,
physical aspects of a heritage site. In See You at the
Paradlise | Ketch Yorlye Daun Paradise? we referred to
this as an ‘authorised heritage discourse’ which
emphasises ‘age, monumentality and/or:aesthetics of a
place’™ In KAVHA, this approach has historically
resulted in the systemic prioritisation of built heritage p
from the penal settlement and the associated histories
of the convict period. What ends up being de-
- emphasised in this process is the present-day
community ‘and their sense of place’* As James Lesh
has argued, heritage conservation, management and
interpretation needs to be attentive to the ‘social,
affective, emotional and experiential aspects of place’ if
it is ‘to achieve positive heritage andsocial outcomes’.’s

For this to happen, human- and commmunity-centred
: approaches to heritage management and

| conservation are needed. These are approaches which
understand ‘historic places as an emotional construct,
rather than just as material legacies'.”® De-emphasising
the ‘inherent cultural value or significance’ of the
‘material basis of heritage™ to instead prioritise the
community’s memories, stories, experiences and
knowledge of a heritage place ‘can liberate us from
identifying what matters’ so as to begin focusing on
howheritage makes us feel and thus why heritage is

important to the continuity of both place and person’.’®
xv . = - —
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Gaye Evans invited the research team to host a
gathering at her home - Flagstaff, a private property in
the KAVHA boundary - and in early November we held
a zine-making workshop there. A table was set up with
a view across to Phillip Island, and the research team
provided all the materials needed to make zine pages:
coloured pens, paper and card, highlighters, sticky
notes, glue, washi tape, scissors and print-outs of a
selection of photos. A Polaroid Lab was also used to
reproduce images provided by participants on the day.
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g Inthe workshops, the research team guided writing
. exercises, with participants responding to prompts
including ‘what is your first or most vivid memory of
. Kingston?' (see pages 44-48) and ‘write a letter to
‘: someone in the past to say what would surprise them
| about Kingston if they were to see it today’ (see pages
+ 62-74). The three-hour workshops were filled with
‘ chatter and laughter as everyone shared memories

» and stories of their Taun.
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The zine also includes a series of ‘conversations’ with
people who have long and deep connections to
Kingston, but did not attend the zine workshop. The
conversations are, in most cases, abridged versions of
transcripts of longer recorded interviews that have
been conducted for the Reimagining KAVHA research
project. David ‘Dids’ Evans talks about how, since 1856,
Kingston was ‘the hub of the island’, the risk that it will
soon become ‘a ghost town’, and challenges for the
site’s management and interpretation to adequately
capture the intangible aspects of Taun that ‘the
Norfolk Island community hold dear to their heart’ (see
Pages 5-9). Arthur Evans takes us to the pier precinct
and to Number 7 Quality Row, talking about his
connection to these sites, the experiences of the
Pitcairn Settlers and the pain of the 1908 eviction
which resonates to this day (see pages 29-43). Peter
Christian-Bailey and Karen Poacher raise concerns
around heritage management and interpretation in
KAVHA and speak about their hopes for the future (see

Some contributions throughout this zine are in Norfk,
presented without translation to English. Norf'k is
recognised by UNESCO to be an endangered
language, and its use in the zine and workshop
represent an important expression of Pitcairner
culture. If you're unfamiliar with Norf'k, we

recommend you consult Speak Norfolk Today: An
Encyclopaedia of the Norfolk Island Language (1999) by
Alice Inez Buffett and A Dictionary of Norfolk Words
and Usages (1986) by Beryl Nobbs-Palmer. If you have a
smartphone, you might also like to explore the Norfk
Laengwij app (visit app.norfk.info).




In capturing contributors' individual stories, memories
and thoughts of Kingston, the zine acts as a
community archive — documenting the sense of place
of Kingston on the community’s own terms.?° In the
pages that follow, contributors challenge and make
visible issues of ‘control, status, power, and neo-
colonialism™ in the heritage place that is KAVHA. In
doing so, they authorise community experiences that,
historically, have been marginalised in KAVHA's
heritage management and interpretation. It is our
hope that this zine, and others in the Reimagining
KAVHA zine series, will spark further discussions
among Norfolk Island residents and other stakeholders
in Kingston about ‘the effects of history, as
experienced by its living participants’.?
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Zelmarie Cantillon, Parramatta
Chelsea Evans, Norfolk Island



*

1 see Commonwealth of Australia, 2008, Australian Convict Sites
World Heritage Nomination, Department of the Environment,
Water, Heritage'and the Arts, Canberra, p. 18.

< See Nobbs, C 2017, Australia's Assault on Norfolk Island 2015-2016:

Despatches from the Front Line, Norfolk Island, Chris Nobbs; Nobbs,
C 2019, Australia's Assault on Norfolk Island 2017-2018: Fateful
Choices, Norfolk Island, Chris Nobbs; Nobbs, C 2021, Australia’s
Assault on Norfolk Island 2019-2020: Procrustes Ascendant, Norfolk

Island, Chris N’ébbs.

“ Hutchinson, E 2021, Administrator’s update, interviewed by
Darlene Buffett. Radio Norfolk, 26 November.

4 Norfolk Island Council of Elders & Norfolk Island People for
Democracy Ltd 2021, ‘Public notice’, printed sign in situ.

5 Norfolk Island Council of Elders & Norfolk Island People for
Democracy Ltd, 2021, ‘Media release’, The Norfolk Islander, vol. 56, no.
18, 4 December.

6 Nobbs, C 2021, 'Speech notes by the principal author for the launch
of Australia's Assault on Norfolk Island 2019-20: Procrustes
Ascendant', The Norfolk Islander, supplement, 4 December.

! Nobbs, C 2021, Australia's Assault on Norfolk Island 2019-2020:
Procrustes Ascendant, Norfolk Island, Chris Nobbs, p. 52.

8 Nobbs, C 2021, Australia’s Assault on Norfolk Island 2019-2020:
Procrustes Ascendant, Norfolk Island, Chris Nobbs, p. 52.

# Nobbs, C 2017, Australia’s Assault on Norfolk Island 2015-2016:
Despatches frorh the Front Line, Norfolk Island, Chris Nobbs, p. 150.

L Schofield, J & Szymanski, R 2016, ‘Sense of place in a changing
world’, in J Schofield & R Szymanski (eds), Local Heritage, Global
Context: Cu/turc-‘:/ Perspectives on Sense of Place, London, Routledge,
p. 3-4.

11 y :

Lesr_\, J 2020, ‘Place and heritage conservation’, in T Edensor, A
Kalandides & U Kothari (eds), 7he Routledge Handbook of Place,
#_2ondon, Routledge, p. 431.

See Cantillon, Z & Baker, S 2021, 'Editorial', See You at the Paradise
/_Ketch Yorlye Daun Paradlise, Reimagining KAVHA, Norfolk Island, p.
Xi.

13 ;
P Smith, L 2006, Uses of Heritage, Routledge, London, p. 3.

Lesh: J 2020, ‘Place and heritage conservation’, in T Edensor, A
Kalandides & U Kothari (eds), 7he Routledge Handbook of Place,
|1_50ndon, Routledge, p. 433.

Lesh, J 2020, ‘Place and heritage conservation’, in T Edensor, A

Kalandides & U Kothari (eds), 7he Routledge Handbook of Place,
London, Routledge, p. 433.




16 Madgin, R & Lesh, J 2021, 'Exploring emotional attachments to
historic places: Bridging concept, practice and method', in R Magin
& J Lesh (eds), People-centred methodologies for heritage
conservation: exploring emotional attachments to historic urban
places, Routledge, London, p. 1.

o Smith, L 2006, Uses of Heritage, Routledge, London, p. 3.

L Madgin, R & Lesh, J 2021, 'Exploring emotional attachments to
historic places: Bridging concept, practice and method', in R Magin
& J Lesh (eds), People-centred methodologies for heritage
conservation: exploring emotional attachments to historic urban
places, Routledge, London, pp. 1-2.

L Schofield, J & Szymanski, R 2016, ‘Sense of place in a changing
world’, in J Schofield & R Szymanski (eds), Local Heritage, Global
Context: Cultural Perspectives on Sense of Place, London, Routledge,

p. 4.

= Flinn A, Stevens, M & Shepherd, E 2009, ‘Whose memories, whose
archives? Independent commmunity archives, autonomy and the
mainstream’, Archival Science, vol. 9, pp. 71-86.

o Cook, T 2013, ‘Evidence, memory, identity, and community: four
shifting archival paradigms’, Archival Science, vol. 13, p. 116.

= Chidgey, R 2006, The resisting subject: per-zines as life story data’,
University of Sussex Journal of Contemporary History, vol. 10, p. 12.
















_ggnversatiqn w_ith David ‘Dids’ Evans, 17 June 2021

Dids: When we stepped off the Morayshire in 1856, the first place that we arrived at
was Kingston, which is today known as KAVHA. There is a very close attachment to
that area, because of that fact alone. When you arrive in a place as a community, like
they did with everyone from Pitcairn Island, and your greeting is this environment,
you’re going to have a fond attachment to that place forever really. Especially seeing
such scenic beauty. In the first hour they would have seen that, ‘Oh, we can grow
stuff here. Oh, we can catch fish here’ — the two most important things to their
survival on Pitcairn Island. So they were off to a good head start right from the get

go.

KAVHA, today in 2021, because of the Commonwealth takeover, it has that
downside. But there are four layers of KAVHA that cannot be ignored at any one
period in time. The Polynesian settlement was a long settlement. The two British
settlements, even though they left behind some wonderful architecture, and
facilities and infrastructure that assisted the community, which Queen Victoria
bequeathed to the Norfolk Islanders, or previously the community of Pitcairn Island.
It is really important to acknowledge all of those things. And then since 1856, post-
1856 within KAVHA really isn’t portrayed well if you compare it to the signage and
that of the infrastructure that’s in Kingston. Because a lot of the things that we do
there are just taken for granted by us, like the Bounty Day procession and the picnic
and going to the beach and going fishing and going down there and playing on one of
the oldest cricket pitches in the Southern Hemisphere.

But | can remember going down there and playing football, seeing croquet being
played down there. We used to have gymkhanas down there. The Queen was
welcomed to Norfolk Island there. You know, there are a lot of very important
activities there in our past that are all very much a part of KAVHA, you know? We
worship within KAVHA. Our elderly, we know that at some stage, dem gwen
daun’taun. Because that's where the cemetery is.




The KAVHA precinct, it connects with the whole island as well. So people at Anson
Bay on the other side of the island know that Kingston is part of their home as well.
Because we do so many community things there and have done so for such a long
time. It was always, right from the word go, a working, living, thriving environment.
People went there not to just work and play, it was the hub of the island. You had
your Administrator down there, the Council, the Legislative Assembly, you know,
Council of Elders would have met in Kingston in the early days because all the houses
along Quality Row were occupied by Pitcairn families. And of course, there was an

eviction and then that turned very sour. You know, it sort of — somewhat similar to
probably the removal undemocratically of a parliament in 2016, the eviction.

| can’t stress enough how important KAVHA is to the community of Norfolk Island.
And I’'m saddened to see that we haven’t got a parliament down there. I'm saddened
to see that we haven’t got a lot of the things that used to be there.

It’s all —in some people’s wisdom, they’ve moved most of those things up town, you
know. Gee, we've all got cars. It takes you another three minutes to drive down here.
And a world heritage site like KAVHA has to be alive, you know? To move all the
things that have been moved out of there up town, it’s killed it, you know? Because a
lot of people would work in the offices within the New Military Barracks and Old
Military Barracks. And yeah, they’d go for a walk at lunchtime, or they’d take their
lunch and go and sit down on the jetty. One time there used to be a café there and
you'd utilise those facilities if they were available as well.

But I’'m really pushing for it to be brought back, instead of being somewhat of a ghost
town. Because Kingston has always been the hub. And | want it to be proactively,
aggressively the hub again, you know? Because it’s got such a high significance to the
community and | think that visitors and employees can still work within KAVHA area,
utilising the infrastructure down there. | know that there’s talk of moving out of the
New Military Barracks and making it more of a museum, but you know, I've seen too
many places on the island, once they’re empty, they die. The human energy seems to
keep a place alive, and to remove so many people from the area that would have —
30 years ago you were coming down here to buy your stamps and pay your dog
license. Everything went through Kingston. And then over time —




Sarah: The Liquor Bond was down there.

Dids: Yeah, the Liquor Bond was there. Of course, the community’s grown and some
places needed to expand and they weren’t sort of — the area didn’t lend to that. And
of course, there’s the heritage value of the place as well. You've got to be careful
that you don’t overstep the mark in that regard. But | think the more that we can
encourage it to be an area that’s alive and living, the better.

Zel: So what do you think is the main reason or motive for moving things out of
KAVHA, as you were saying, and moving them up to Burnt Pine? Why do you think
that’s been happening?

Dids: Well, they thought for convenience for a start, which | think was a misnomer.
But then as | say, in places like the Liquor Bond, you know, had no storage or
anything like that down there. Philatelic used to be down there, yeah, that got

moved up town sort of just — | don’t know, may have been for a lack of room or
whatever. There have been varying reasons why things have been pushed into the
CBD, as | call Burnt Pine. Whereas | think if they were kept in Kingston they —or give
people a choice. You can go to Telecom in the CBD but you can also go down to
Kingston as well. | know manning it and all of those sort of — money involved and all
of that sort of stuff as well, but sometimes money isn’t everything. Other times
money is everything.
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Sarah: What are your thoughts on the site’s management and interpretation?

Dids: In a site such as KAVHA, you need continuity in the site’s management. You've
got to have that basic background knowledge of how has this evolved? What are the
steps that have been taken? Were decisions made well? How do we progress from
here well on a conservation side, but then in the community sphere as well? Because
the community must be a part of things that happen in KAVHA, whatever
interpretation is down there it needs to have sort of equal balance between what
happens with the Polynesians, what happened in the two English settlements, and
post-1856 needs more interpretation, you know?

And sometimes it’s difficult, because — | can’t think of the right word. When you just
know it? Intangible! The intangible things that are so much a part of KAVHA, you
know. You’ve got so many tangible things, but there are also many, many, many
intangible things. And they’re hard to put onto a sign. They are hard to portray to
someone unless that person actually sees a Bounty Day parade. It’s very hard to
explain a Bounty Day parade without saying, ‘Oh well, they get dressed up in period
costume and they march from the pier to the cemetery’. It doesn’t paint the picture.
You've actually got to experience it. And that’s just one example that I’'m giving you
of the intangible things that are so important within KAVHA. And there are things
that Norfolk Island community holds so, so dear to their heart.

Zel: Yeah, it’s really important. Yeah.

8




Sarah: | think that, like you say, the intangible is sometimes much harder to capture,
but it’s so important to the way in which the site is lived. But also understood by
others.

Zel: And its significance, like the heritage significance, as you were saying, is not just

in the buildings and not just in the periods of time that are maybe more represented
there, but then in all these other experiences or stories and attachments that people
have to — and it’s like continuing —

Dids: Well, so many island families lived in the area. Even if they didn’t live there
permanently, they used to go down and camp in the old buildings and things like
that. And there are things that have been passed down from generation to
generation as well. So they’re very important activities that have actually helped
promote our culture and our tradition and keeping those things alive as well.

I hope that, as time goes by, with interpretation, we get to tell a heck of a lot more of
the story post-1856. And as a member of the KAVHA Advisory Committee, | try and
do my best to promote those things.
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Kingston was always referred to as ‘in town’ by
my family

~ Millie Walden

My great great grandfather, John (Diddar) Buffett, my great
grandparents Emily Evangeline (Buffett) and George Rowland
St.Clair Evans, my great great Aunt Eveline Helena “Eva”
Buffett, my grandparents, Ida and Oscar Olsson and my father
Jim Olsson all lived ‘in town’ at No 7 Quality Row.

My dad spent all his childhood living at No 7 Quality Row and
always referred to the area as ‘in town’.

No 7 Quality Row, Kingston was allocated to John (Diddar)
Buffett in 1856 on his arrival from Pitcairn Island. John Buffett
died on Norfolk Island on 23 June 1906

Aunt Eva never married and looked after her father as well as
raising her niece, Ida Ethelyn Evans (my grandmother) and her
nephew George (D’wud) Rowland Evans at No 7 when their
mother Emily Evangeline Evans died in 1899 aged 46.

When John (Diddar) Buffett died in 1906, No 7 Quality Row
was passed on to his daughter Eveline Helena “Eva” Buffett
who was born on Pitcairn Island in 1849. My father Jim Olsson
spoke with the deepest affection of Aunt Eva.

Ida and her children (my dad and two brothers) continued to
live at No 7 Quality Row until Ida died on 23 June 1947. The
Lease was then given up at No. 7 Quality Row and my Dad
and his brothers moved into his Mum’s house opposite the
Cenotaph. He lived there until 1956 when he moved his family

to Cascade Road.




My grandmother Ida Olsson and her three boys Jim,
Max and Bruce on the steps of No. 7 Quality Row

My father always referred to Kingston as ‘in town’. A few
examples of what Dad used to say are:

Bounty Day Yyorlye gen in town des dae fu Bounty?’

To play cricket Wi gen in town play cricket’

To the beach ‘Wi gen in town go narwi’

Thanksgiving day "wi gen in town fiu thanksgiving day
service’




When visiting Uncle Bruce at the family home up from the
cenotaph: ‘wi gen visit Uncle Bruce in town’

Dad use to take our family fishing on many occasions at Setta
Point, in town.

Aunt_ Eva holding my Uncle Bruce, D'Wud Evans and his brother Edwin Evans
holding my dad Jim Olsson. The photo is taken at No. 7 Quality Row.

The following are extracts taken from Aunt Eva’s diary written
in the early 1900s where she refers to Kingston as ‘in town’:

5.10.1908 Betty Buffett, Martha Buffett in town
with me

Dec 1908 My sister Ida go out to Mrs Llliotts to
work in town

1 January 1909 Allen and his family came down in our
old home in town




5 May 1909 Man of War came in early.
A ball in the club room in town.
Four in the morning, etc. etc.

19 October 1909 At Home in Town getting ready to go to
Steeles point

October 21, 1909 We are in Town still in our house facing
Emily Bay.

There are many more times ‘in town’ is written in Aunt Eva’s

diary but I am just pointing out that it was always referred to as
“in town” back then.

Many years ago it used to be “in Town” and “up Country” —
meaning you were either in Kingston or up at Burnt Pine.
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The conversation with Arthur began &t the
Kingston pier.

Sarah: So we're starting here at the pier. What are
the key things we should know about the pier?

Arthur: Well, it's been the landing ares for the last
three settlements and the Polynesians most likely
arrived in the town area as well. All four
settlements have been here: the Polynesian
Settlement, Colonial Settlement, Penal Settlement,
Pitcairn Settlement. So down here, this is where it
all begins, for us anyway. So that second lot of
steps you've got here, that's where the Pitcairners
arrived in 1856 and they sent one of the Christian
& family ashore with a sick child and they were the
| first to come ashore. They started offloading from
early in the morning and it took until 2 o’clock in
the afternoon before they had everybody offloaded
= and they took a while to offload their belongings
&= as well. So the Pitcairn Islanders brought their
& previous life with them. On 8th of June 1856 our
8 families arrived, and my great-grandmother, who
. W was a three-year-old girl, she arrived up these
| steps wearing a hat. I've still got thas hat.

: Zel: Wow, that’s amagzing.

e Arthur: So I'm only third generation from the
%, Pitcairn Arrival. She married Roland Evans and
~ had my grandfather. Anyway, comes down to me.
- These steps are wellknown to all the community.
. I've been up and down those hundreds and
" hundreds of times. My father was Owen Evans, the
botanist who did the work on Phillip Island,
camped out there for — I don’t know, 30 years off
and on and eight months fulltime. My mother
Beryl assisted Owen, So that’s my parents. I was
dragged out there as a kid to assist. Then when I
got old enough to stand my ground I wouldn’t go
because it was an unpleasant experience being
stuck out there away from all my friends and
everything. But it grounded me in natural history,
all things botany.
|29 | i -]




~ Sarah: Incredible.

Arthur: Of course, this pier is where we come t0
fish, not for pleasure as Lord Loftus, the Governor
of New South Wales, might have stated in 1884.
‘These lazy Pitcairners spend their afternoons on
the beach fishing when they should be working
and doing something productive’. He had no idea
that we were catching food. Just the European
eyes looking at a Polynesian culture with no
knowledge or experience about how a different

culture works. But I can’t stress enough how
different our culture is to European culture west
from here.

Still standing on the pier, we all turn our attention
to Slaughter Bay.

Arthur: This reef out here, this has been our
playground and my memories of this, going back
t0 my earliest memories, playing on here and

| using a little thread of cotton, catching fish in the
pool. One of the old island residents, Mary Joe
Nobbs who used to live with us in the Engineer
Office, she’d bring me down here and give me a bit
of cotton with & tiny little hook and show me how

' to break open the periwinkles, or ‘hihi’ we call it,
to catch the fish, the tiny little fish. And [ was a

little kid, so excited, I was about three years old.

Anyway -

: Arthur: Yeah, so crabs and hihi’s, they're the best
bait for the rockfish. Of course, my house was that
&= building just there, the Royal Engineer Office.

& b begin walking toward the Royal Engineer
& Office.




Sarah: Oh wow! The REO was where you were
living?

Arthur: So from age zero — well, I wasn’t actually
born here. Mum was washed off the rocks when
they were fishing and almost had a miscarriage,
80 she was flown away to New Zealand where I was
born. But I was home again within five weeks and
back into the house here. Mum and Dad were
living here before I was born but continued living
here for the first four years of my life. My
bedroom’s the room on the right there as you go
in. There are all sorts of stories about down at
Kingston here and ghosts. Being of Polynesian
descent as we all are, you're superstitious about
people of the past, about the spirits. Growing up
we were all scared of ghosts — I don’t know about
these days but when we were growing up everyone
was scared of ghosts, what they might do. Mum
used to tell of the time — many times she said I'm
in this room in my cot and I was on the wall on
the far side, on the left-hand side as you go in the
room, and ['d be crying, and she would come in
and my dummy would be across the other side of
the room. She said I was only just months old, and
[ couldn’t throw it and she used to be worried
there was a ghost in there that was taking it out of
my mouth and throwing it away. There are ghosts
associated with this building. A ghost of a young
girl from the penal days who was murdered.




Sarah: I guess that's the REO’s interpretation
plaque there. Is there anything on that plaque that
mentions

Arthur: T've never read this plaque.

We walk over to the interpretive sign by the REQ.

Arthur: See they've got, ‘second settlement’ there
which is wrong. It says here ‘The Royal Engineers
Office was built in 1850 and 1851 towards the
end of the Second Settlement. Prior to this, the
Royal Engineers worked from the carpenter’s shop
located on the same site. Built during the time of
Commandant Price, the Royal Engineers Office is
a good example of & Georgian style military
building of the mid nineteenth century’. So there’s
mistakes straight away. Second settlement. That
wasn’t the second settlement of Norfolk Island. It
doesn’t take into account, the Polynesians who
were here earlier. I've asked them for a long time
not to classify in a numbered order and to use the
name 80 that tourists and others aren’t confused.
It’s in the name of a settlement, you know straight
away which one you're talking about. It completely
confuses many people with the numbering. Is it a
true numbering? No, there may have been people
here before the Polynesians. Take away that
incorrect numbering system that’s used and you
can add another settlement if necessary -

Sarah: As a descriptor.

Arthur: As a descriptor so you can say Polynesian
settlement, colonial settlement, penal settlement,
Pitcairn settlement and then maybe Melanesian
Mission settlement etc.

Zel: All distinct.

Arthur: The Melanesian Mission coming here in
1866, that was a big part of our island history,
and it was a large settlement on Norfolk Island.

32
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Sarah: Did the Melanesian Mission have much i

presence in Kingston and Arthur’s Vale because I
don’t remember ever seeing -

Arthur: That was their building there.

Zel: Oh, the boat shed.

Arthur;: The left boat shed was the Mission shed.
That was where they kept their boat. So the double
boat shed. The left-hand side was the mission side,
and I don’t know whether there’s a plaque on that
but according to Rob Varman, who did a lot of the
archaeological digging, he thinks that’s based on
the remains of a colonial settlement building. The
evidence is of the burnt stone when they burnt the
buildings, there’s burnt stone in the foundations
of that building.

' Sarah: I notice this sign for the REO really doesn’t
1 have very much about the Pitcairn settlement.

> Arthur: Yeah, it says, ‘The Pitcairn settlers used
-~ the building as a residence. In 1897 the Police

<% Constable, John Buffett, lived there’. So that was
© my great-great-grandfather, John Buffett, -

e q Sarah: Oh, that was your great-great-grandfather!
e ooN Wow,

“R,. Arthur: Yeah. ‘The office was the residence of the
% Signal Master between 1919-1948. Internal
. timber linings, added by the Pitcairners, still
remain’.



Sarah: So, your parents must have moved in there
some time after 19489

Arthur: Yeah, so about the time my sister was
born, she’s three years older than me, so about
19562. Sorry, no, it was after that because Mum
and Dad lived in New Zealand for a couple of years
80 about the time I was born, about 1954. So they
moved in here about that time.

Sarah: What would the process have been around
that time to gain a residence in one of the-

Arthur: Easy.
Sarah: - buildings down at Kingston?

Arthur: So you're getting married, you've got a
child another coming, you go and see the
Administrator at his office and say you need
somewhere to live and he'll go through and just
assess which buildings are vacant and he'll
allocate a building to you. That’s as easy as that.
Yeah, a lot of people lived in the Surgeon’s
Quarters up there, different families. After us,
some years after us at the REO the Conaghan
family were in here.

Sarah: They were the last family, I think, weren’t
they?

Arthur: They were, and they were here for longer
than we were. We were here for about four years
and my years going to school with the Conaghan
family, this is where they lived all that time. [
think it was still — I don’t know, about 1980 or
something that Noni moved out. Somewhere
there, I don’t know the date.

Zel: Yeah, and that’s really not that long ago that
there were people living here.




‘ Sarah: Well only some of the few things T've read.

Arthur: Yeah, so, ‘the settlers used the building as
a residence’. The sign is pretty vague. Anyway, not

that I expect to see the residents’ names on there,
but you could say on there ‘different families of
Pitcairn Islanders used this as their home'.

Zel: Yeah, doesn’t really say how it was used, Jjust
says changes that were made.

Sarah: And ‘residence’ is an interesting word, isn’
it, as opposed to home?

Arthur: Well, it almost gives connotations of
moving in illegally. As they infer with our
occupation, the use of the word ‘occupation’ in
reference to the buildings in Quality Row. It
wasn't occupation, it was a grant from Britain, it
was a drawing of lots from a box, with keys in a :
box and the male of the family drew the key out |
and that became his freehold home. It was drawn

in lots. I don’t know what you know about the
burning down of those houses, do you know much
about it?

We all turn to look bao/f to the pzef



Arthur: Okay, so this pier again, in 1908 the
Australian army arrived with guns and bayonets
and when they were rowing in they hid the guns
in the floor of the boats and when they stepped up
on those steps, the ones I just showed you,
carrying their guns, the Pitcairn Islanders who
had come to greet them stood back on the far side
and sang hymns and they thought they were all
going to be killed. The community was just
distraught, and they sang hymns and the army
walked along up to Quality Row and went along
saying to the residents with guns and bayonets,
poked at the residents and owners of the homes,
‘you either sign this document which is a lease
document or you move out right now’. My family
signed the document and they were there until
1946 and most of the others moved out on thas
day, weren’t allowed to get their belongings,
moved out immediately, the doors were locked and
| the army deputised six of the men from the Boer
War, Norfolk Islanders, and said ‘you must keep
the people out of those houses’. They said, ‘we
can’t do that’. And they were told, ‘if you don’t,
.. you're going to be gaoled’.

8 Those six men were denied membership of this |
f community for the rest of their lives. Today
know the families and some of those families still
talk about not being a part of their community
because their forefathers were deputised
constables to keep us out of our homes. So it split
the community. Dad used to often say — I won’t
gsay their name, but so-and-s0’s coming down the
road and my grandfather would look at Dad and
say ‘look the other way, boy. Don’t look at them’.
So it was horrific.

Sarsh: I did read one account of an old lady who
was brought out of one of the homes on her bed

because she was -

Arthur: That's in the old military barracks, one of
' the Bataille family. She couldn’t walk, she’d been
N bedridden for 10 years and the army lifted the bed
up and carted her out, put her on the strest with

. belongings under the bed and left her in the
ez middle of the street just laying in the street.




Looking up Pier Strest toward Middlegate.

Arthur: The Commissariai, Store up there, my firgt
memories of that is being petrified of the top of
those stairs, having to walk down the stairs to get
out of church. Trying to hold onto the rail, little
kid, you can’t hold onto the rail and ['ve got clea,r

down from the church.
Sarah: [t’s a steep set of stairs!

Arthur: Oh, it is. As a little kid - this would have
been when we were living down the Royal
Engineer Office - it was daunting.

Sarah: So when you were living at the Royal
Engineer Office how many other families were still |
living down in Kingston -

Arthur: The Surgeon’s Quarters, there was Maggie [l
Tom and her guest house - o

Sarah: The Liquor Bond was still here?
Arthur: Oh yeah, Liquor Bond was here for a long

time. Lots of stories on Norfolk Island about the
Liquor Bond and they’re not published anywhere. &8









We return to the car to drive to No. 7 Quality Row. Zel: Wow.

Arthur: No. 7’s the one just before that roadway Arthur: - of our family’s occupation in this house. | g

there on the left, you can park in that roadway if
you like or across the road.

Sarah: Is that one of the longest family
occupations -

e park opposite No. 7 and, sitting in the car out

of the wind, the conversation continues. Arthur: I believe. So, like I was saying before with

the burning of those five homes here, that was

Arthur; This is the Protestant chaplain’s house done by people who were evicted out at gunpoins

from the penal days. So you had the Catholic and they came back that night and burnt their

chaplain who was much lower class and he was in " homes down. My family signed the agreement and

o No. 11 which is second class. This is the the agreement basically stated T agree that my

S Protestant chaplain’s house, first class and it’s ' family will move out of this house when the last

' | determined by the number of posts across the person in this family alive today dies’. Aunt Eva ’or
' front. Second class has got six posts, first class | we call her Aunt Ewa, she died in 1946 and that’s 5

got, eight posts, third class had — I think it was when Uncle Jim and his family had to move out of |

four posts. Anyway, that's the penal settlement. | his family home. Uncle Jim, who I was fairly close,
to told me of the day that he took the key back, he

said ‘T went to the Administrator’s office and I

handed the key over the desk and he hardly said
anything and that was it, we were gone', after 90 |
years. He had to build a new house at Cascade. <,

Z l-.a*“‘b I o B

1
- It was built in - off the top of my head — 18486, I
| think, and the Protestant chaplain wasn’t here

after 18563 or 1852, somewhere there, [ think. So
he only lived in here for about six years. Six
- years, okay, total, for all Protestant, chaplains. I'm
‘ '~ just giving you perspective on dates and things. So
| about six years and then the penal settlement
folded and we got the island. On the 9th of June A
18866 John Buffett [T moved into this house as his
home. So that’s 1866, 9th of June. My family
moved out of this in 1946 so that’s 90 years -




~ a daughter of John Buffett I and she becomes my

' Sarah: So what happened? So your family leave
No. 7. Did the Administrator have other plans for

No. 7 af that point or -

|

hecause she died and her husband remarried, the
new wife wouldn’t take the children on. So, the
children, which were 6 of them, ended up being
cared for and looked after by the family here. Of
course, Granddad (Young Evans), he was one of
them. Dad (Owen) and his cousins would collect
down here and get together and go camping down
here and doing Boys things. The Administrator of

" the day lived over here in Government House.
Three from Uncle Jim’s family and Dad played
with the Administrator’s children. The family in
No. 7 had a shop on the right-hand side there on

| the veranda and the aunts used to bake bread in
the old conviet oven and sell it in the shop and the
' family would import lollies and things to sell ab
the shop as well. It was one of the few shops on
the island. Just boys being boys, they’d work it out
| with the Administrator’s son that he would lose | -
~ his glasses and the Administrator would give — I
forget how many shillings it was for someone who
could find and return the glasses, and they’d

always find and return the glasses and there’d be

o reward which they’d go straight to the shop and
buy some of the lollies. He gaid that happened
numerous times where the glasses would be lost

and found and the reward used at the shop.

Arthur: I don’t know whether he did or not. I can’t
remember who went into it after the Pitcairn
[slanders were moved out. The first to move out of
their home was Miriam and Isaac Christian of No
10. Lord Loftus came here in 1884 and he said to
all these people T'm going to have to start
charging you rent for your buildings’ and the
community generally said ‘nick off’ but Miriam
and Isaac Christian, they must have felt
intimidated and they moved out. The Church of
England Minister moved in there and then later
on it was the police and different people. But this
house, No. 7, 90 years we were there. The many
children born there and number of family
members died there, it’s huge. Everyone that I see
who's lived in there since, I often tell them ‘and
this is our house’ -

V"“v"‘ 9“y‘vl,“v'7‘ ¥

'R R

Zel: Yeah.

Arthur; But, some of the stories that I got from
Dad, because Dad was partially brought up here.
This is his grandmother’s home, the little girl
whose hat I've got, so Emily Evangeline Buffett is

father’s grandmother. So, some of her sisters

looked after the children of Emily Evangeline That story had us all laughing.
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Arthur: So generations of my family have been
born here and died here. The original John Buffett,
senior, John Buffett I, he died in here and as it
turns out I have his diary. I've got John Buffett’s

- diary that he started the day they came in 18586.

The book that he used was a requestion book he

- got from the Commissariat Store after speaking
- with Stewart who met them at the Pier on the 8t

June, he asked where he might obtain a book for a
diary and Stewart said ‘go to the Commissariat
Store and go up into the office on the left, choose
a book’ and I've got that book. He wrote in it for
40 odd years and then his son that had this
house, No. 7, wrote in it for a while.

Zel: Wow.

~ Arthur: So 8th of June 1856 it starts off but the

pages previous to that are convict entries from the
penal settlement. So it was a requestion book.

Leatherbound.

Sarah: Did No. 7 have alterations from your
family as they'd been living there over time?

Arthur: The restorations were done on the ‘Town’
buildings from about 1964. The shop was removed
but basically it was original inside, and this is one
of the original buildings along with No. 6 which
was the hospital. So it wasn’t changed much.

Sarah: [s there still sometimes -

Sarah: So, this would have been a very vibrans
part of the community, shops and hospital -

Arthur: Oh, it was. The families were all living in
these homes and this is where everyone came, this
was the centre of town. But Grandpa told me when
he was a boy — I think he was 12 or 13 — he sat
on this veranda and he witnessed the army going
along evicting the people out of these homes. The
horror thas he felt and - and the whole
community was just aghast that the Australian
Government would turn on them with guns, guns
and bayonets, and use those guns and bayonets to
forcibly evict them from their own homes. So, the

~ fact that we don’t trust New South Wales comes

from good groundings. But, when [ worked at the
Museum, the curator from Australia forbid me to
talk about the burnings and the evictions of
Quality Row here, because there was no

'~ Australian Government recognition in history of

that happening.
Sarah: Wow.

Arthur: He said you can only use interpretation
that’s been written by a reliable source.

Arthur: Yeah, there’s — well -

J
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| 8 Arthur: Oh, there’s stories all the way along

'BB® | Quality Row. Mum, when she first came here,
lived in Ocea,ngide down here.

PR
' Sarah: Oh really?

Sarah: - stories that can’t gst told?

Arthur: I still do tours. If I go off track and if a
tourist asks me about the burning of the buildings
here and I start talking about, the people being
evicted there’s pretty much straight away

complaints. | Arthur; Yeah, the old Paradise -

T\ J—

Arthur: I've got the photo of the day in 1950 that
Dad took out a group of tourists — because Dad
had the truck that he took tourists around on, and
nine girls came in from New Zealand on a plane,
prior to arrival the Captain radioed in and said
T've got nine young girls on the plane’ and when
the plane landed there was about 50 young boys at
the airport to meet the plane. Mum said, ‘for the
whole stay we never had to buy anything, we had
everything provided for us’, all the food, all the
vegetables, all the fruit they wanted, it was all

. provided. They went around doing things such as,
horseback rides and tractor rides and on this day
that they went out with Dad, Dad said to this
particular young girl ‘it’s a bit dusty on the back,

| why don’t you sit in the front?’. Anyway, someone
took a photo of Mum sitting in the front and Dad
leaning on the mudguard of the truck all proud
and that’s the day it started and that’s why I'm
here. After being a tourist, she came back and
worked there at Oceanside for a while, eventually
marrying Owen.

S
w

ZeL: Well, T guess some of the tourists come here
' thinking they’re going to have a certain
- experience of seeing — maybe they’re just looking
1o see the colonial and the convict heritage, some
- of them, and then they -

| Arthur; They're thinking of paradise, but
unfortunately everything's not as it seems.
Anyway, they try and hide it but, this history here

- on Norfolk [sland, it’s our history and I'm appalled

' that in this day and age they’re still trying to hide

i the real history of Norfolk [sland and us as a

' people, we’re a community and a people. I'm a

i Norfolk Islander and my language is Norf’k

‘ language, and I'm & part of this community, as all

!

us locals are.

Zel: This has been fantastic and really interesting,
- Arthur. All the hidden histories!
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Conversation with Peter Christian-Bailey and
X Karen Poacher, 27 October 2021

\\
Chelsea: I was really interested ~ ignored all the time. The narrative
when we were talklng yesterday, 1S always skewed in favour of the
and you spoke about the World colonials’ objective.

Heritage listing. Is there anything
you can think of in terms of how
KAVHA is thought of as a World
Heritage Site — like how do you
think it’s valued as a space by
people on Norfolk Island?

Chelsea: If you could reinterpret
KAVHA how would you do that?
How would you explain KAVHA
to somebody?

Peter: First and foremost
KAVHA, which I don’t actually
particularly like the word
KAVHA, to Norfolk Islanders it’s
known as Taun and it is that
simple, KAVHA is living heritage
and it should be first and foremost
up to the people who are most
affected to — it should be
recognised as their home and their
living space, not something that
occurred well before, where all
the people who did occupy the
area are long gone. It’s just
another colonial-skewed narrative
and it’s wrong.

Peter: Well, I think the whole
World Heritage issue was maybe
sold to the people in the wrong
way and the way it’s actually been
presented is — I don’t think the
listing does any favours to the
people who are the key
stakeholders, which are the
Norfolk Islanders, because it’s
basically tacked onto the listing as
an Australian Convict Site and at
the end of the day it doesn’t truly
represent what the meaning of the
area is in its current context,
where it’s the home of the Pitcairn
Island settlers. The narrative is
that it’s just another Australian =
convict site and that’s just only a | *
very small fraction of what the | 404
area means today, and, at the end ‘:::
of the day, the site should be for 4044
representatives of the current |1
inhabitants and they seem to get | . ..

Chelsea: We were talking
yesterday, too, a little bit about the
Polynesian aspects of our culture
and I think it daas something that
we maybe nor talk about much,
but do you think dem kind of
relationships, that Polynesian
relationship that we have with the




and it’s funny that a lot of Norfolk
Islanders today, they still refer to
Kingston, the KAVHA area, as
Daun’taun and if they’re ever
going round to the shops dem
gwen raun kantri. That says it all,
doesn’t it? So obviously we enjoy
it for the same reasons — for
barbeques, picnics, gwen naawi,
plieh de golf en orl em kaina thing
— but there’s obviously a shared
common history to the area that
maybe newcomers don’t have and
the connection, where it was
actually almost the cradle of
Norfolk.

environment, with Daun’taun, es
said yu el gu naawi, yu el work, yu
el plieh, yu thort daa gat’ veri
defrent lived experience to how
other people maybe engage with
the site who ent’ Norf’k Ailendas?

Peter: At the end of the day all
those things are probably enjoyed
for the same reasons that Norfolk
Islanders enjoy it for. But there’s
obviously another layer with the
Norfolk Islanders, there’s
obviously a common history to
the area. When you think about it,
from 1856 to 1908 it was town,




Chelsea: If you were in charge of
Kingston, what would you like to

“see done, say within the first five
years of running it?

Peter: Ai hoep ai nor saun tuu
radical bat de fas thing a1 wud duu
— if T was making the decisions,
this is what I would do. Number
one, I would ensure that all the
decisions are reflective of what
the Norfolk Islanders want.
Number two, every single
decision in regard to the area
would be made by Norfolk
Islanders and if Norfolk Islanders
wanted to keep it the way it is, all
very well. If Norfolk Islanders
wanted to push it in a particular
area, so be it. At the end of the day
the fact that nearly all decisions in
relation to KAVHA are done by
remote control in Canberra, by
people who aren’t actually
affected by the decisions they
make, is completely wrong. So I
personally would like to see the
whole area — I think there’s a
particular narrative that a lot of
people in KAVHA would like to
see and that’s basically preserving
a particular point in time -
between 1825 and 1855, probably
the 1830s, and they think that’s
the way it should be, that it
shouldn’t be changed, it should be
almost sanitised to that particular
era. That’s completely wrong

layers and layers of different

" tapestry. At this point in time, it

seems to be emphasis s
preserving it to an era somewhere
in the 1830s but it should be =
changed, should be adapted, g

g should be progressed. It shouldn’t
§ be a particular pomt in time.

I’d like to see a lot more economic

activity happen down there. I’d
actually like to see the whole area
turned back into residential zone
so Islanders can return to their
town. At the end of the day the
Pitcairners were a coastal people,
they lived off the sea. Farming
and the way they were pushed up
into the interior of the island, it
wasn’t particularly natural for
them. They’re a coastal people at
the end of the day and they
deserve to be back down in their
town if they choose to be. As I
said, I would like to see it
residentially zoned, I don’t think —
all these restrictions and the — it
seems to be steering towards
almost having the whole area
quarantined as a museum. Wrong,
completely wrong in my opinion.




Chelsea: That’s a really important
point you make because, thinking

about the idea of cultural justice
for the Pitcairn descendants, for
the people who call Norfolk
Island their homeland, I feel that’s
a beautiful way to articulate it,
that you get the people living back
in the space.

Peter: Absolutely, why aren’t
they down there? Why not? If you

think about it there are particular g

things that become so embedded
in the psyche of the inhabitants of
a particular area that — I think I
mentioned to someone the other

day about it and sometimes you

brth step
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= =—————

- have to take deep

back and see things for what they
really are. Number one, KAVHA,
the policy and the whole
juggernaut, seems to be — the
whole colonial juggernaut seem to
be driving more and more of the
Pitcairn influence out of KAVHA
and you see that even today like
you can see that right very now
how all of the administrative
workers of the Island are being
pushed out. That’s something that

shouldn’t be tolerated. It’s just zZ&,
another thing that people just have

to cop. It becomes so ingrained in
people’s psyche that they don’t
even realise the injustices that are §

“happening right before their eyes.

7 5 487

Number two is h does the
Administrator live down there?
Why is somebody who’s not from |

the Island, didn’t grow up here, .
- he’s not a Norfolk Islander, why &

the hell — as well as Quality Row,
why is that area occupied by

. Australian expat workers? It’s

colonialism, it’s a lingering
prejudice that can’t be shaken.




people feel that way? Like you
talk to a lot of different people and
you move within the community a
lot. Yu thort that plenti salan fiil -

Peter: If you pull apart all the
layers and get to the crux of the
issue and you actually try and

course they do. It’s completely
logical what I’'m saying, it’s just
so many people are so subjugated,
and they have been for so long
they don’t realise the injustices
that are staring them in the face. A
lot of people here are that used to
just being — to an external
authority, they just accept it. But I
think if the option was presented
to them then I think they would
say “of course we want to have
our own people down there”.

| Chelsea: Have you got something
that you really enjoy about taun?
Like what’s one of the things -

Chelsea: Do you think a lot of

open their eyes up to it, they do, of

e s

Peter: Emily, Emile Bieh en i
law’ gu daun deya naawi en I just
love going down there picnicking.
We often go down there in the
afternoon after 3pm when daa san
stil es hotan bat nort tuu hot fe
dem letl salan en tek wan picnic or
gu baabekuu — yeah, it’s beautiful.
I'd be down there every day if I
could, every afternoon.

Chelsea: Ai thort plenti aklan
wud bi anieh! Yu tork baut salan
bin lew in taun fe lorng taim, fram
1856 wen wi laend wi shef iin en
wi lew deya. How do you think
those stories could be told better?
If you were a visitor coming to
' Norfolk, because you deal with a
lot of visitors with your business — [§ii§§
have visitors ever made comments
to you on what else they’d like to
see in Kingston?

-




Peter: Well, I was only talking
with Karen the other day about
that and when she first came to the
Island four or so years ago she
basically came here for the
convict history. The fact that there
was a local population on the
Island and what we now term

these days as an indigenous
population, the Pitcairn history —
did you even know about it or -

Karen: No. When I researched
Norfolk Island I probably didn’t
dig deep enough at the time and it
was to me just all about the
convict and the ghost stuff, there
wasn’t really anything on the
internet about these Pitcairn
people.

N :-"4 Y
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Peter: You asked ‘what would
you like to see’ — instead of it
being called Number 10 Quality
Row or Number 8 or whatever, it
should be the home of Mary
Christian or whoever or that
should be the focal point. What’s
the more recent history? Like,

what’s the more relevant to what
the area is today? Where are the
descendants of these people still
living? They’re still living on the
Island so that’s how it should be
referenced.

In saying all this I don’t believe
that you should completely
pretend that the convict history
never happened, of course it did
and it should be documented but
prominence should be given to the

Chelsea: What do you love about
Kingston, Karen?

Karen: Oh, probably just the
history, really, how the old
buildings are still there and that’s
all pretty cool. But as long as it
doesn’t become an area where
you've got to pay to get into like —
I don’t know, I’ve never been to -

Peter: Port Arthur.

Karen: As long as it’s not closed
off and you’ve got to be a tourist
to go there, like I think we should
all be able to enjoy it still.

Peter: It’s living history. Just
becoming less and less so.




Chelsea: So how do you change
that? I think people talk about
moving back into Kingston or
having the offices back down or
having people living — people
have been talking about that for a
long time, that they’d like to see
Taun as samsaid where people
live or  whether there's
accommodation again because it
makes it busy, keeps it going and
there’s -

Peter: So, correct me if I'm
wrong but if you want to apply to
have, for example a wedding
down there or something, I
believe —I could be wrong but you
have to do it through the
Administrator’s  Office, don’t
you?

Chelsea: 1 don’t actually know
who you do it through anymore. I
think that’s quite confusing now
as to who’s in charge of where and
of what. Do yorli go down to Tent
City much? I just wondered

whether that’s somewhere that
people would be interested in
doing more things down there
because it’s a space that people —
that wi se kaina reklaim or not re-
claim but claim it’s ours and
whether there’s more things,
activities that could be done in
that space to -

Peter: 1 suppose Tent City is
probably a very polarising area.
Obviously, it’s not only broken
down into the divisions between
those who support a dictatorship
against those who don’t, it’s also
broken down into people who can
afford to be seen down there and
might prejudice their employment
or it might prejudice any sort of
contract work or any busmess

lot of people wouldn’t be seen
down there purely for that reason, E




because even though they support &
the cause, and that's quite
common. That’s why it’s such a &
polarising area. Ai nor keya|
personally, but a lot of people are |
actually in fear of that, of actually *
being seen to be taking a

particular line.

Karen: Does downtown not feel |
like it’s the people’s anymore ;

because -

Peter: Well, I know whose it is &
but that’s the impression, that’s

the narrative that’s being pushed.

Chelsea: Can you remember
when you first visited Kingston

seeing anything about the

Pitcairners down there?

Karen: No.

Peter: What about in the { =

museums, the Pier Store?

Karen: Oh maybe. Yeah, through
the Bounty history.

Peter: Did you see the Pitcairners
and the convicts that are all
interwoven and you couldn't
delineate.

Karen: A mishmash, yeah so I
had to work it out.

Peter: You didn’t see them as two
different defined areas of -

"% Karen: Well yeah, I didn’t know
g that there was a first and second
¢ settlement and I went with Arthur §

£ on his tour but when you’ve got F@H

the kids it’s a bit hard to listen but |
yeah, I think I worked it out
eventually.

Peter: I think that’s a problem too
— just bringing the Pitcairners’
side of it into more prominence
because if the people are confused
about this, we’re not doing our job
in telling our story properly.

Karen: But I mean, it is more
heavily marketed for the convict
history.




Chelsea: I’m interested that you
said that, Puk, that people are
maybe today interested in
promoting the Pitcairn story more
and I wonder whether that’s
something that’s happened in the
last five or six years or whether
that's something that used to
happen, it just used to happen in a
different way.

Peter: Pre-2015 people didn’t feel
so threatened so they didn’t
particularly — even though it was
still run as a really colonial area

and a really skewed narrative
down there, people pre-2015
didn’t feel as threatened and
didn’t feel the need to have to
protect it and preserve or to
defend it so much but now
obviously Norfolk Islanders are
under attack by quite a large
juggemnaut. I'm not saying that
willy-nilly, it’s an actual fact, not
just in Kingston but the narrative

of the Norfolk Islanders is |
actually — there is an actual |
Australian Government agenda to |
basically drive the whole narrative |
out of the history books and that’s |

exactly what they’re doing. If I

right’.

The narrative is not just to

downplay the prominence, it’s to

.| wipe it out because if they deny
| our existence then there’s nobody

there to refute their ownership of

| the area and that’s the whole truth
| of the matter. It’s quite a sobering
| thought to wake up each — and a
| lot of Norfolk Islanders feel this,

they feel like a pain in their heart

.| because they know that they’re a
| people under attack and there is a

| huge juggernaut that is really
: \;: trying to wipe them out. It is really
- | serious and it is really sobering.
| It’s horrendous if you see it for
| what it really is. It’s really
| sobering, eh? It’s really sad, eh?
~ | To think that’s what people think

of us.

| Chelsea: It’s quite overwhelming.
- | I think we've been through so
talked like this 20 years ago |
people probably would have |
thought 'm a fruit loop, blah, |
blah, blah, but I think today

people think ‘well hang on, he’s |

much in such a short space of time

- | thatwe still are trying to cope with
| those changes. With KAVHA,
| what about the community
| consultations that happen down
| there about its management?




Peter: If it was run by the Norfolk
Island people in a proper
democratic way — number one,
consultation is the biggest dirty
word that you can ever think of
because consultation is just
completely open to skew a
particular narrative and
consultation in my eyes, lived
through experience, consultation
is another word — depends whose
hands it is in — for manufactured
consent. SO you can bring more
prominence to particular things
that people say. Consultation
means nothing. Letting some
foreign power collate data and get
data and collate it the way that

they see fit and that’s exactly what

happens. Consultation means
nothing to me.

Chelsea: So how would you see it
happening democratically?

Peter: Well 1 suppose it’s
probably no different to the way
that maybe the Island used to run
the Hospital Board and maybe the
Tourism Board and it was done
under a democratically elected
body whereby if the people vote in
the people who are representing
them on an Island-wide level and
then I suppose it comes down to
the people who are voted and then

appoint people to represent for
example the KAVHA area. At the
end of the day,if the people don’t
like the people who are being
represented then they change their
government. And if they do and if
the people vote in the people who
are putting the people down there,
it’s more likely that they’re going
to be picking people who are
representing a narrative that’s
more reflective of what the people
want and that’s basically what it
comes down to because, at the
moment, there’s obviously two
competing narratives at play all
the time. I don’t think somebody’s
narrative from people who live

1,500km away should be more
important than the narrative of
people who actually live here.

Chelsea: Absolutely. I hope, in
my optimism, that in time to
come, we do see that shift, that we
see that change, but as you said
it’s important that it comes from
the Norfolk Island people to push
that and to be in a position of
power in order to make those
changes happen. Bringing it back
to KAVHA, what are the things
that yorli would love to see for
your kids in 50 years to come?
What are the things that you
would hope for them to be able to
experience in KAVHA?




Peter: Obviously return of full

control to the Norfolk Islanders.

All the official buildings should

be occupied by Norfolk Islanders

in their capacity like I said that I'd
like to see the whole area zoned
residential again and I'm not
saying that you can do that as well
as preserve the historical parts of
it too but it should be a living
history, it should be where people
live, it should be where people
breathe, not just where they die, it
should be returned to a place
where they live and sustain

themselves.

Karen: I still appreciate the
museums down there, though.

Peter: Oh, I’'m not saying they
should go, ’m just saying that
they should -

Karen: Like for our girls to enjoy
later.

Chelsea: I was just thinking about
when I was growing up en gwen
fishen orf” stoen Daun’taun, orf aa
niif daun semetri, ala orf aa piya,
gwen fe drien aero, orl dem kaina
thing that you might not

necessarily know about unless
you're used to those sorts of - - - g

you can still have people fishing,
gwen fe hihi, having those sorts of
cultural practices alive and well in
taun?

Karen: It’s up to our generation
to teach our children, isn’t it?

Peter: When I say it should be
zoned residential I  don’t
particularly mean that there
should be high-rises or anything
like that, it shouldn’t be under
Australian development, it should
be development where Islanders

have the opportunity to live down
there again if they so wish and
they can perhaps purchase a
property or they can maybe claim
some sort of — through an ancestor
of ownership of a particular
building that was occupied by the
family. Well, why not? Why can’t
they put their claim in to
somewhere that was in the family
and they were forcibly removed?
Why shouldn’t they be allowed
to? The only people living in the
historical buildings are Australian
Government workers and expats.
How’s that right? If it’s good for

‘ them well, why can’t we live
G down there? Why shouldn’t it be

us living down there?

Norfolk experiences. So how do & ~ —#% ’ e
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we try and have those things e
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sustainable? So that in 50 years |
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Karen: Is there a little bit of a —
what’s the word? Stigma about
the Pitcairn people use all the
building, the  deteriorating |
buildings or say road base and -

Chelsea: The convict story or the
interest in convict hi story in
Australia -

Peter: Wasn’t trendy back then,
no.

Peter: No, it was actually the
Administrator who sold off the
rock, off the limestone.

Karen: Butis there a bitof a thing
amongst tourists that it wasn’t
really a good thing to do? I think
some of the tourists go ‘oh that’s
a shame about us using all the’ —
because I've heard a few
comments before.

Karen: Were those buildings in
disrepair?

Chelsea: Not all of them but the
Pitcairners were encouraged to
use the stone and the buildings
because, as Peter said, they sold
off those buildings and those
properties and it wasn’t until I
think the late 1960s that really

Chelsea: Yeah, there probably
are, but the interpretation needs to
be in Taun so tourists know
actually these were the chain of
events that took place where the

Pitcairners were encouraged to

% use and dismantle the stone
i buildings. Is there anything more
g that you two would like to -
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 Peter: The restoration push. It JRESHEEs
. was actually the Norfolk Islanders
& who restored the buildings down
g there and it’s through their own
™ impetus that they’ve been
" restored. Before the 1960s nobody
particularly gave a shit about the
area. It was the Norfolk Islanders
who have actually put in the hard
yards to bring them back.




Peter: The other thing, the link
should also be amplified about,
the link between the earlier
Polynesian settlers there and the
link that they — the Polynesians
who came there in 1856. The link
between the Norfolk Islanders and
their own people, fellow
Polynesians who also occupied
the site before, is something that
shouldn’t be forgotten too. I know
there is some informational
material and interpretive signage
down there — I suppose it is told to
a certain extent now, but there
should be a greater link between
us and them, it should be really
highlighted and interpretative

signage could be extended. Let’s
| face it, the convicts were here

i from what, 24 years the first time
i and 30 years the second time, a

| total of what, 55 years you’d say. %
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The Pitcairners have been here
for, what is it? 165 years and the
Polynesians were here — could be
anywhere from many, many
centuries, who knows? They
could have been here 500 years,
who knows? So, we’re talking
about the interpretation — the way

it seems to be concentrated now, it

seems to be on like a 55-year
period against what, a particular
people have occupied the area for
hundreds and hundreds and
hundreds of years. That’s where

you got to see it at.
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Cover image of Bounty Day, 2021 provided courtesy of
Zelmarie Cantillon.




